I. Identity of the Petitioner 

The Petitioner is the Unit Owners Association of Centre Pointe 

Condominium (the "Association"), the appellant/defendant below. 

II. Underlying Decision 

The Association requests discretionary review of the decision 

herein filed September 2, 2014 by the Court of Appeals Division I. 1 

III. Issue Presented for Review 

Does an amendment to a declaration of condominium that 
creates a "rental cap" on the number of units that owners 
can lease to tenants require 67% supermajority approval 
by owners under RCW 64.34.264(1 )? Or does the higher 
90% approval requirement contained in RCW 
64.34.264( 4) (and a like percentage stated in a provision of 
the declaration of condominium that mirrors .264(4)'s 
statutory language) apply to such an amendment? 

IV. Statement of the Case 

Centre Pointe Condominium was formed in May 2003 by a 

Declaration of Condominium recorded in Whatcom County? Clerks 

Papers ("CP") 30, 104. Three residential buildings with 97 units and a 

clubhouse were built prior to 2011. CP 106. On October 20,2011, the 

Association recorded the 1 ih Amendment to the declaration of 

1 See copy attached in Appendix I ("App. I"). The decision below, which is 
published, held that 90% approval, not 67%, is required for a condominium owners 
association governed by the Washington Condominium Act, RCW chap. 64.34 (the 
"WCA") to pass a "rental cap" amendment to its declaration of condominium. 

2 The governing legislation for Centre Pointe Condominium is the WCA, which 
applies to condominiums formed after July I, 1990. See RCW 64.34.0 I 0( I). 
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condominium. CP 123-27.3 The amendment was passed pursuant to 

RCW 64.34.264( 1) and § 17.1 of the declaration. CP 68, 124. It was 

approved by owners of units to which at least 67% of the votes in the 

association were allocated, which is the required level under RCW 

64.34.264(1) and § 17.1. CP 68, 124, 234-35. The lih Amendment 

created a "rental cap," stating that no more than 30% of the total number 

of units could be leased, subject to limited exceptions. CP 125. 

Ms. Debbie Haddad, the President of the Association when 

Filmore filed this lawsuit, stated the Association's purposes in adopting 

the lih Amendment, CP 234-35, which included that ability of the 

members of the Association to sell their units depends upon the 

availability of FHA financing to prospective buyers, and that the FHA 

and lenders have guidelines under which the availability of financing is 

decreased or nonexistent if there is extensive leasing. CP 234. 

Respondent Filmore LLLP ("Filmore") acquired the Building D 

pad and development right from a bank that had foreclosed on a prior 

declarant's interest. CP 105, 142. On December 27, 2011, two months 

after the 12th Amendment's recording, Filmore pledged the property to 

secure construction financing. CP 145. On September 28, 2012, 

3 The decision below stated correctly October 2011 as the month of recording 
of the 12th Amendment, App. 1 at 4. The references in two other passages to "2012" as 
the year of its passage, id. at 2, 18, are not correct. 
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Filmore, as successor declarant, recorded the 14th Amendment to the 

declaration, CP 104-07, which created 35 residential units in Building D. 

On October 15, 2012, Filmore filed its Complaint herein, alleging that 

adoption ofthe 1ih Amendment violated RCW 64.34.264(4) and Section 

17.3 in the Declaration. CP 4-10. Subsection (4) in RCW 64.34.264 

states five exceptions to the general requirement that 67% of unit owners 

approve amendments to the declaration, and requires 90% approval for 

such exceptional amendments.4 Filmore obtained a CR 56 order on 

February 8, 2013 declaring the 12th Amendment "void." CP 349. All 35 

units in Building D have been rented, with no sales yet made by Filmore. 

The condominium does not presently have FHA financing certification. 

"Rental cap" amendments to condominium declarations have been 

commonly, indeed predominantly, adopted by a 67% approval level. 

During the 36 months before the 1ih Amendment took effect in October 

2011 to 12 months after, there were at least ten "rental cap" amendments 

for condominiums (besides Centre Pointe's) recorded in Whatcom 

County that were approved by a 67% level under RCW 64.34.264(1 ). CP 

260-61, 159, 163-221. Three of these other ten were drafted by an 

attorney with the firm representing Filmore, CP 261, 159, 164, 176, 204, 

4 Section 17.3 of the declaration of condominium quotes the language of RCW 
64.34.264(4) almost verbatim, imposing the same requirement. CP 69. 
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who supported Filmore's CR 56 motion with a declaration, CP 27.5 

V. Authority and Argument 

A. The Issue Presented Is of Substantial Public Interest 

RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) states the following criterion for acceptance of 

discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court: 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

The present case involves an issue of high public interest. In particular: 

• No prior appellate decisions address whether 67% or 90% 

approval is required under the WCA for a rental cap amendment. 

• A large preponderance of rental cap amendments under the WCA 

have been approved by 67%, not 90%, and are now subject to being 

invalidated under the decision below. 

• The interpretation of "use" in the decision below means that in 

subsection .264(4), the fifth and last clause has extremely broad reach 

and blurry boundaries - in contrast to the narrow scope of the other four 

clauses; indeed the fifth clause will eclipse the 67% baseline in .264(1 ). 

• Pre-1990 condominiums governed by the Horizontal Property 

Regimes Act, RCW ch. 64.32 ("HPRA"), can by a 60% supermajority 

5 Filmore submitted two "rental cap" amendments in Whatcom County, from 
2007 and 2010, which it stated were passed by a 90% vote. CP 306-09,310-13. 
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pass a rental cap amendment to the declaration. Anomalously, a wide 

disparity therefore exists between pre-1990 and post-1990 condominiums 

in their ability to have rental caps, if the decision below stands, even 

though the legislature in enacting the WCA evidenced no intent to alter 

the fundamental principle of the condominium form of ownership: 

Because condominiums are statutory creations, the 
rights and duties of condominium owners are not the 
same as real property owners at common law. 
"Central to the concept of condominium ownership is 
the principle that each owner, in exchange for the 
benefits of association with other owners, 'must give 
up a certain degree of freedom of choice which he [or 
she] might otherwise enjoy in separate, privately 
owned property.' " [Brackets by Court.] 

Shorewood West Condo. Ass 'n v. Sadri, 140 Wn.2d 47, 53, 992 P.2d 

1008 (2000) (citations omitted). The importance of the issue in this case 

is such that it should be determined by Washington's highest court. 

The WCA states 67% is the required approval level for 

amendments to a condominium declaration generally: 

(1) Except .. . as limited by subsection ( 4) of 
this section, the declaration, including the survey maps 
and plans, may be amended only by vote or agreement of 
unit owners of units to which at least sixty-seven percent 
of the votes in the association are allocated, or any larger 
percentage the declaration specifies: PROVIDED, That the 
declaration may specify a smaller percentage only if all of 
the units are restricted exclusively to nonresidential use. 

RCW 64.34.264(1) (boldface and italics added). Five exceptional types 
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of amendments require a 90% level of approval and, further, approval "of 

the owner of each unit particularly affected": 

(4) Except to the extent expressly permitted or required by 
other provisions of this chapter, no amendment may 
create or increase special declarant rights, increase the 
number of units, change the boundaries of any unit, 
the allocated interests of a unit, or the uses to which any 
unit is restricted, in the absence of the vote or agreement 
of the owner of each unit particularly affected and the 
owners of units to which at least ninety percent of the 
votes in the association are allocated other than the 
declarant or such larger percentage as the declaration 
provides. 

RCW 64.34.264(4) (boldface and italics added). 

The WCA does not define "use." Well-established principles of 

statutory construction demonstrate, however, that the fifth clause of 

subsection .264( 4) does not apply to a rental cap amendment. 

Filmore's position has been that "use" of a unit does not mean the 

basic function or activity that goes on in it - i.e., residing in it or, 

alternatively, carrying on a business or commerce. Instead, Filmore has 

argued "use" includes a lease by an owner to a tenant because, at 

common law, "one of the 'sticks in the bundle' of real property rights" is 

the ability to transfer possession in exchange for rents. CP 23. The 

Association disagrees. The correct meaning is that regardless of whether 

an owner or a tenant lives in a unit, the "use" is the same - residential; 

and regardless of whether an owner or tenant carries on a retail or 
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commercial business in the unit, the "use" is nonresidential. 6 

This is an issue of first impression and one exceedingly important 

to condominium owners' associations. Faced with the large number of 

associations having rental cap amendments passed by 67%, Filmore 

offered this explanation in an attorney declaration: 

For practical reasons, it is very difficult for a homeowners' 
association to obtain the ninety percent (90%) vote from 
the owners for anything. This is particularly true with 
rental restrictions since many unit owners do not want 
such restrictions imposed on their units. 

It is typical to advise associations that the Act appears to 
require ninety percent (90%) (because rental restrictions 
are a restriction on use), but that no court has made a 
decision on the point. This allows counsel to advise 
clients that the actual requirement is not an absolute 
certainty. Further, boards are advised that a claim of 
invalid adoption must be brought within one year of 
adoption (RCW 64.34.264(2)). Accordingly, boards are 
advised that to achieve a rental restriction, the board could 
undertake passage at sixty-seven percent (67%) assuming 
the risk that no one would file within the one year time 
period. Upon this advice, it does appear that many boards 
do take the risk and pass amendments with the lower 
sixty-seven percent (67%). [CP 304] 

The attorney's assumption that the one year time period in RCW 

64.34.264(2) will accord such across-the-board protection to amendments 

6 Land use codes define "use" by reference to the activity in or on the property. 
See King County, Dept. of Development & Environmental Services v. King County, 177 
Wn.2d 636, 641, 305 P .3d 240 (20 13) ("The use of a property is defined by the activity 
for which the building or lot is intended, designed, arranged, occupied, or maintained," 
citing the county code); Meridian Minerals Co. v. King County, 61 Wn. App. 195, 210, 
810 P.2d 31 (1991) ('"Use' means ... the type of activity ... to which land is devoted 
or may be devoted" (ellipses by the court and citing county code)). 
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passed by 67% is questionable. The argument that such amendments are 

void ab initio is an obstacle.7 Additionally, going forward (if the decision 

below stands), condominium associations in order to pass a new rental 

cap amendment will need at least 90% approval - and possibly 100% in 

light of the "agreement of ... each unit particularly affected" phrase.8 

B. Well Established Rules of Statutory Construction 
Show "Use" in the WCA Does Not Mean Leasing 

The "fundamental objective in construing a statute is to ascertain 

and carry out the intent of the legislature." Federal Way School Dist. No. 

210 v. Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 756, 765,261 P.3d 145 (2011). Furthermore, 

"We construe the meaning of a statute by reading it in its 
entirety, and considering the entire sequence of all statutes 
relating to the same subject matter." 

!d. (citation omitted); see also Rivas v. Over lake Hasp. Me d. Ctr., 164 

7 The argument asserts that passage of an amendment with less than the 
required statutory percentage of votes means it was not "adopted ... pursuant to this 
section," as that phrase is used in RCW 64.34.264(2), as contrasted with a procedural 
irregularity inconsistent with a non-statutory directive, e.g., a bylaw. The Supreme 
Court in Rhode Island, which has a one year statute of limitations identical to RCW 
64.34.264(2), has held that the limitations period did not apply to a "void ab initio" 
challenge in a case involving an amendment that expanded special declarant rights. See 
American Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. !DC, Inc., 844 A.2d 117, 133 (2004). The Washington 
Court of Appeals in Keller v. Sixty-0 I Ass 'n of Apartment Owners, 127 Wn. App. 614, 
620-21, 112 P .3d 544 (2005), distinguished between amendments that are "void" and 
those that are "merely voidable," and suggested (in a passage regarding proceedings on 
remand) that only the latter type would be protected by the running of an applicable 
statute of limitations. (The amendment in Keller changed the allocation of common 
expenses. The condominium predated the passage of the WCA and thus it was not 
subsection .264(2) that potentially provided a limitations period, 127 Wn. App. at 621, 
but rather RCW chap. 4.16.) 

8 Filmore's position has been that 1 00% of the votes are required to approve a 
rental cap amendment because each unit owner's ability to lease is affected. CP 25. 
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Wn.2d 261, 266-67, 189 P.3d 753 (2008).9 By this principle, the phrase 

"uses to which any unit is restricted," which appears in .264(4), means a 

restriction based on a land use classification, in particular residential 

or nonresidential, such as those restrictions appearing in numerous 

WCA statutes listed below. 10 As is stated in Lake v. Woodcreek 

Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 528-29, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) 

(boldface added): 

Usually, the intended meamng 1s apparent from the 
surrounding context. 

Here, we look to the context of the other 
provisions of the HPRA. 

"When the same words are used in related statutes, we must presume the 

legislature intended the words to have the same meaning." Clipse v. 

Michels Canst., Inc., 154 Wn. App. 573, 579,225 P.3d 492 (2010). 11 

Looking to such "other provisions" in the WCA, two sections 

state the disclosures required of the declarant to purchasers and the 

9 See also City of Auburn v. Gauntt, 174 Wn.2d 321, 274 P.3d 1033 (2012) 
("When interpreting statutes, we do not read words in isolation[, but] we read words 
within the context of the whole statute and larger statutory scheme"); In re Estate of 
Blessing, 174 Wn.2d 228,231, 273 P.3d 975 (2012) ("Plain meaning is discerned from 
the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which the 
provision is found, related provisions and the statutory scheme as a whole"). 

10 Virtually identical language appears in a rental cap amendment passed by a 
67% vote, CP 181, drafted by an attorney in the firm that represents Filmore herein. 

11 See also State v. Gonzalez, 168 Wn.2d 256, 264, 226 P.3d 131, 135 (20 10) 
("[ w ]hen similar words are used in different parts of a statute, 'the meaning is presumed 
to be the same throughout"'); Bank of America, N.A. v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 53-54, 
266 P.3d 211 (2011) (same). 
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required content of a declaration, respectively. As to the first: 

(1) A public offering statement shall contain 
the following information: 

(g) A brief description of the permitted uses 
and use restrictions pertaining to the units and the 
common elements; 

(h) A brief description of the restrictions, if 
any, on the renting or leasing of units by the declarant or 
other unit owners, together with the rights, if any, of the 
declarant to rent or lease at least a majority of units; .... 

RCW 64.34.41 0(1 )(g), (h) (boldface added). As to the second, 

(1) The declaration for a condominium must 
contain: 

(n) Any restrictions in the declaration on use, 
occupancy, or alienation of the units; .... 

RCW 64.34.216(1 )(n) (boldface added). Both provisions show "use" has 

a different meaning than "leasing." The first has separate subparts for the 

two terms. In the second three different words, "use," "occupancy" and 

"alienation," list the "restrictions" to be stated. A "well-settled principle 

of statutory construction is that 'each word of a statute is to be accorded 

meaning."' State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 

(2005) ("[t]he drafters of legislation ... are presumed to have used no 

superfluous words"). Limits on the right to lease, to sublease, or to 
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assign a leasehold are a restriction on "alienation. " 12 

The conclusion that "use" does not include "leasing" is reinforced 

by reviewing the other instances in the WCA where the word "use[ s ]" 

appears in the statutory text, with particular focus on where the word 

appears in conjunction with "units." In 13 WCA sections, the word 

"residential" or "nonresidential" appears immediately before 

"use[s]." One is in the statute at issue, RCW 64.34.264, in the proviso at 

the end of .264( 1 ), see supra at 6. The other 12 are: 

64.34.2I6( I)( e) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.4I5(2) ("residential use") 

64.34.268( I) ("nonresidential uses") 64.34.440(2) (both appear) 

64.34.348( I) ("nonresidential uses") 64.34.440(6)(f)(i) ("residential use") 

64.34.352(8) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.445(3) ("residential use") 

64.34.3 80( 4) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.450( I) ("nonresidential use") 

64.34.400( I) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.450(2) ("residential use") 

Throughout the WCA, repeatedly, the context in which "use[s]" appears 

is immediately next to "residential" or "nonresidential." And, in 

particular, for eight of these 13, the entire phrase "unit[ s] ... restricted 

to . . . use[ s ]" appears, with "residential" or "nonresidential" 

12 See Shoemaker v. Shaug, 5 Wn. App. 700, 70 I & 704, 490 P .2d 439 (1971) 
(addressing a covenant precluding subleasing of premises); Ernst Home Center, Inc. v. 
Sato, 80 Wn. App. 473, 476 & 486, 910 P.2d 486 (1996) (same), citing Restatement 
(Second) of Property, Landlord and Tenant § 15.2; see also Shorewood West 
Condominium Ass'n v. Sadri, 92 Wn. App. 752, 759, 966 P.2d 372 (1998) (observing 
"[r]estrictions on leasing have been upheld as reasonable restraints on alienation"), rev 'd 
on other grounds, 140 Wn.2d 47, 992 P.2d I 008 (2000); W. Stoebuck & J. Weaver, 17 
Wash. Prac., Real Estate: Property Law § 1.26 (discussing restrictions on subleasing as a 
type of restraint on alienation, a type that is usually found lawful). The decision below 
stated that "th[e] question" of whether "leasing restrictions are a restraint on alienation 
rather than a restraint on use, ... remains unsettled." App. I at II. 
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appearing immediately before "use[s]."13 Thus, the context provided by 

the many sections of the WCA where "use" appears, and especially those 

sections that pertain to "units," is compelling. It shows that the word 

means "nonresidential" uses on the one hand, viz., retail or commercial, 

and "residential" uses on the other, such as dwelling or recreation. 14 

C. The Interpretation of "Use" Cannot Be So Broad that 
Subsection (4) Would Apply Indiscriminately 

The conclusion above, on the statutory meaning of "use" in 

"change ... the uses to which any unit is restricted," harmonizes with a 

conspicuous and important characteristic of RCW 64.34.264(4): it states 

with particularity the four other exceptional types of amendments for 

which the extraordinary 90% approval level is required. These are 

amendments to "create or increase special declarant rights, increase the 

number of units, change the boundaries of any unit, [or] the allocated 

interests of a unit." !d. All have a narrow scope. So also should the 

clause at issue have a definite meaning, and not one so amorphous as to 

13 These eight entries are §64.34.264(1) along with the six in the left-hand 
column ofthe above chart, and the second appearance of"use" in§ 64.34.440(2). Three 
of the eight, like § 64.34.264(4), relate to voting percentages. See §§ 64.34.264(1), 
.268(1 ), .348(1 ). 

14 The word "use[]" appears in several additional sections of the WCA, mostly 
in connection with the common elements or condominiums generally. While the 
context thus differs, the guidance available from these sections also supports that the 
word refers to activity in or on property, and not the transfer by lease of a right of 
possession. See Petitioner's Opening Brief filed in the Court of Appeals at 14-17 
(discussing 13 additional statutory sections including those not already listed supra that 
are cited in App. I at 12-13). 
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make it indeterminable how far the 90% requirement reaches. 

Interpreting disputed legislative language in harmony with the adjacent 

terms in the statute is a well-recognized principle: 

A principle consistent with this view [of avoiding 
the "dismembering" of statutory terms] is that of noscitur a 
sociis, which provides that a single word in a statute 
should not be read in isolation, and that the meaning of 
words may be indicated or controlled by those with which 
they are associated. In Jackson, we applied this principle 
and held that the word "shelter" in the phrase "food, water, 
shelter, clothing and medically necessary health care," 
should not be isolated and analyzed apart from the words 
surrounding it. In interpreting statutory terms, a court 
should take into consideration the meaning naturally 
attaching to them from the context, and ... adopt the sense 
of the words which best harmonizes with the context. 

Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d at 623 (citation omitted; ellipsis by the court). 15 

In contrast, the core of Filmore's argument has been the 

contention that '"[u]se' must include all aspects to which a buyer may 

intend and/or expect to utilize his/her unit."16 Filmore's interpretation, 

pushing all limits of malleability, is such that RCW 64.34.264( 4) would 

engulf the general rule. Virtually every declaration amendment that in 

some way relates to units would become a "use" restriction and require 

15 See also In re Guardianship of Knutson, 160 Wn. App. 854, 867-68, 250 
P.3d 1072 (2011) ("[t]he maxim noscitur a sociis, that a word is known by the company 
it keeps, is often wisely applied where a word is capable of many meanings to avoid the 
giving of unintended breadth to the Acts of Congress"). 

16 Respondent's Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review, filed 
April25, 2013 in the court below ("Resp. Ans."), at 9. 
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90% approval. The argument admits no basis to discern what would not 

be a "use." Subsection (1) in RCW 64.34.264, stating the baseline 

argument of 67% approval for a declaration amendment, would become 

virtually superfluous and a central tenet of condominium ownership law, 

see supra at 5, would become meaningless. 

Filmore has ·in a similar vein asserted that "' [ u ]se' under its 

ordinary definition is exceedingly broad." Resp. Ans. at 11-12. Filmore 

submitted several pages from the American Heritage Dictionary of 

English Language and Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979). CP 283-

88. Filmore did not quote or cite any actual definition for the word. 

Rather, it said "[t]he breadth of the common meaning of 'use' is obvious, 

and must include rentals," CP 275, relying, it appears, on the sheer 

number and length of the dictionaries' multiple entries for the word. The 

method is reductionist in the extreme, to a level that would trump any 

other argument and require no statutory construction at all. 17 

This gets to a central shortcoming in the decision below. The 

17 The court "may" look to a dictionary definition, but is not required to resort 
to one. See Mains Farm Homeowners Ass'n v. Worthington, 121 Wn.2d 810, 817, 854 
P.2d I 072 (1993) (dictionary definitions not helpful on the word "family"); see also In 
re Blessing, 174 Wn.2d at 231-32. The pages Filmore put in the record, CP 283-88, are 
not particularly edifying. However, to the extent guidance can be gleaned, the American 
Heritage Dictionary's leading definitions of the noun "use" would indicate the word 
denotes a function of an activity with the tangible object at issue. See definitions nos. I, 
2, at CP 284: ("-n. (yoos). I. a. The act of using; the application or employment of 
something for some purpose: the use of a pencil for writing. b. The condition or fact of 
being used. 2. The manner of using; usage: the proper use of power tools .. .. "). 
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reasoning by which that decision held leasing to be a "use" is unmoored 

to any principle that limits how far the word reaches. The decision below 

dismisses this concern out of hand, saying: "[W]e express no opinion as 

to whether or to what extent other types of uses [than leasing] are subject 

to the 90% requirement." App. 1 at 14, see id. at 7. So stating does not 

change the method that led to its holding. That method extends to much 

more than leasing unless in future cases on other amendments affecting 

units it is curtailed ad hoc. The decision below quoted two dictionary 

definitions, id. at 9-10, but gave no further explanation except to say that 

"[t]he plain meaning of 'use' as defined in the dictionary is broad." !d. at 

10. 18 It then de facto placed the burden of "persua[ sion ]" on Petitioner to 

show "evidence" the legislature intended that leasing not be a "use." See 

App. 1 at 11, 14 & 15. See also id. at 13 n.l 0. 19 This method overlooks 

18 Complete copies of the entries for "use" in these two dictionaries cited by the 
decision below are attached in Appendix 2 (WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL 
DICTIONARY (2002), pages 2523-24) and Appendix 3 (BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (9th 
ed. 2009), pages 1681-83 ). The two passages within these entries that the decision 
below selected and quoted are [from WEBSTER'S]: " '[T]he legal enjoyment of property 
that consists in its employment, occupation, exercise, or practice, a particular service or 
end: purpose, object, function, and the quality of being suitable for employment: 
capability of filling a need or promoting an advantage: usefulness, utility[;]'" and [from 
BLACK'S] " '[t]he application or employment of something; esp., a long-continued 
possession and employment of a thing for the purpose for which it is adapted, as 
distinguished from a possession and employment that is merely temporary or 
occasional.' " See App. 1 at 9-10. 

These dictionary definitions do not preclude the meaning of "use" in RCW 
64.34.264 argued by the Association herein, see supra at 9-12. 

19 Such "evidence" exists in RCW 64.34.410(1)(g)(h), 64.34.216(1)(n), and the 
other statutes discussed supra at 1 0-12. 
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that consulting a dictionary is optional, not required, and should not be 

done when the dictionary definition is insufficiently definite to be 

applied.20 It does not acknowledge any restraint on how far "use" 

extends since the rationale for the method, that the "meaning of 'use' as 

defined in the dictionary is broad," knows no limits. The entire character 

of subsection .264( 4) is changed as a result. 

A non-exhaustive list of subjects that may now be considered a 

"use" would include displaying signs, keeping animals and parking, see 

App. 1 at 19 (citing paragraph titles in Article IX of the declaration of 

condominium), as well as maintaining or keeping security systems, 

private garden areas, antennas, storage spaces, and hazardous substances. 

All have sections in Article IX addressing them - the same Article that 

contained the § 9 .1.14 on leasing that was altered by the 12th 

20 In Mains Farm, supra n. 17, the court observed: 

No purpose will be served by examining and comparing in detail the numerous 
cases which define "family." Because of the widely differing documents being 
interpreted, the contexts in which the word is used and the fact-specific 
circumstances, it is impossible to arrive at a single, all-purpose definition. 
The possible definitions range from limiting the "family" to the historical, 
traditional persons related by blood, marriage or adoption to "a group of people 
who live, sleep, cook, and eat upon the premises as a single housekeeping 
unit." 

Likewise, attempting to use one of the many dictionary classifications 
solves nothing. It has been observed: 

First, although a group home may meet one of the dictionary definitions of "family," 
the focus must be on the contextual meaning of the word rather than the range of 
linguistically permissible meanings. Second, the fact that a group home is set up to 
emulate family behavior should not be regarded as a sufficient condition for family 
status within the social meaning of a single-family-use covenant. 

121 Wn.3d at 817 (boldface added, citations omitted). 
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Amendment.21 CP 53-55. There is not a principled way to distinguish 

these subjects from leasing if the foundation for interpreting "use" is that 

"as defined in the dictionary [it] is broad." To require 90% approval -

and 100% of all "affected" units - effectively means condominiums lack

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