NO. 90879-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
[Court of Appeals No. 70013-8-I]

FILMORE LLLP,
a Washington limited liability limited partnership,

Respondents,

vs.

UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION OF CENTRE POINTE
CONDOMINIUM,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT FILMORE, LLLP'S RESPONSE TO
PETITION FOR REVIEW

DOUGLAS K. ROBERTSON, WSBA #16421
Belcher Swanson Law Firm, P.L.L.C.
900 Dupont Street
Bellingham, Washington 98225-3105
Tel: (360) 734-6390 Fax: (360) 671-0753
Attorneys for Respondents

Received
Washington State Supreme Court

NOV - 3 2014

CRF
Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

2014 OCT 31 PM 1:06
COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. No “Substantial Public Interest” Interpreting the Centre Pointe Declaration.

The entirety of the decision by the Trial Court and one-half of the decision by the Court of Appeals are premised upon the specific language of the Centre Pointe Declaration: Leasing is identified as a “use” to which restrictions are imposed (9.1.14 Lease Restrictions cited above). Under the heading of “Residential Uses,” paragraph 9.1.1 provides that all “*other reasonable uses normally incidental to such [residential] purposes*” are allowed. Leasing of a residential unit is a reasonable use that is normally incidental to residential purposes. This is undisputed since over 35 of the units in the complex had been rented in Buildings A, B and C prior to passage of the Twelfth Amendment.¹⁸

Further, in a subsection under the section of the Declaration defining “Permitted Uses,” the following is provided:

“Other than the foregoing, there is no restriction on the right of any unit owner to lease his or her unit.”¹⁹

Unlike the general language of the WCA, here the drafter of the

¹⁷ Decision, pages 1-2.

¹⁸ CP 139-140. See footnote 8.

¹⁹ CP 52-53. Declaration, Section 9.1.14.

Declaration was quite clear — leasing is a “use” to which the condominiums have restrictions. The application of this Declaration’s specific language cannot, by definition, involve a matter of “public interest.”

RAP 13.4(b)(4) cannot be met when the root of the underlying decision is based upon private contract not applicable to other condominiums. Any interpretation of the WCA in this matter would be at best advisory, for the Declaration controls. Accordingly, there is no matter of public interest appropriate for this court’s review.

Note that the Association in its Petition never referenced the issue regarding the interpretation of this particular Declaration in its Petition. That is because the Court of Appeals’ analysis of this particular Declaration is correct and without error.²⁰

B. Application of RCW 64.34.264(4) Not of Substantial Public Interest.

1. *Language of the WCA Supports Court of Appeals.*

a. **Statutory Language:** The legislative intent to have a very broad application of “uses” is unambiguously established by the language of the two applicable statutes and

²⁰ Decision, pages 17-19.

requires a broad meaning of “uses.” The WCA utilized the adjective *any* when setting the breadth of use restrictions.²¹ In the section requiring a supermajority for amendments,²² the statute utilizes the plural, not the singular – “uses.”²³ By using the plural, the legislature recognized that more than one type of use distinction could be restricted, requiring a supermajority. Further, in both sections, the noun “use” is used — a word that is exceedingly broad.²⁴ At no time did the legislature include adjectives or modifiers of the word “use” in either statute that restricts the word’s meaning. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the definition of “uses” is broad and that there is nothing in the statute or the legislative history supporting a narrow application.

b. Consumer Protection: The Decision recognized that any interpretation of the WCA must fulfill the legislature’s clear intent to provide significant consumer protection.²⁵ “Uses” must be considered as those important to the consumers. A buyer of a place to live has already limited his/her search to residential units. So limiting the word “use” to residential *versus* non-residential

²¹ RCW 64.34.216(1)(n).

²² RCW 64.34.264(4).

²³ RCW 64.34.264(4).

²⁴ See Black’s Law Dictionary, 4th Ed., pg. 1382 (1979).

²⁵ See Section VI.B(1) above.

would be pointless. What really matters to these consumers are limitations of the uses within the residential context — leasing, timeshare, age restrictions, *etc.* Recognition of the practical concerns makes it clear — for the WCA to protect residential owners/buyers, the definition of “uses” must address the concerns this consuming public would have.

c. Other Basis for Broad Interpretation: Over the years, the question of rental restrictions being a “use” has been an issue in this and other states. The expert commentators in this state agree that leasing restrictions are “use restrictions” that require a 90% approval by the unit owners.²⁶

Other states have confirmed that “use” means much more than residential *versus* non-residential. The Minnesota Court of Appeals held that rental restriction is a reasonable restriction on the *use* of a unit.²⁷ The court **rejected** the claim that a rental restriction is a restraint on alienation.²⁸ The court noted that other jurisdictions had also concluded that rental restrictions are restrictions on use

²⁶ CP 127-138, CP 294-300, CP 304-306.

²⁷ Breezy Point Holiday Harbor Lodge-Beachside Apartment Owners’ Association vs. BP Partnership, 531 N.W.2d 917 (1995).

²⁸ *Id.* at 919. The Minnesota court recognized that a restraint on alienation is one that limits an owner’s right to convey a fee interest. See Stoebuck and Weaver: *Real Estate: Property Law, Sec. 1.26: Restraints on Alienation*, 17 Wash. Prac. 50-53 (2004). Professor Stoebuck defines restraints on alienation similarly as a restriction on the right to convey fee interest and which would not include restricting an owner from granting a possessory interest pursuant to a lease.

and not restraints on alienation and confirmed the same.²⁹

Also instructive is the fact that New York considers a limitation on pets a “use” restriction.³⁰ If the ability to have pets is important enough to be called a use, then surely the right to rent must be as well.

2. *Decision Consistent with this Court’s Decision in Shorewood.*

This same issue came before this court under the Horizontal Regime Act (RCW 64.32) where the holding was the same: “use restrictions” must include rental restrictions. In Shorewood West Condominium Association v. Sadri,³¹ a Declaration created a condominium under the Horizontal Property Regime Act. The Declaration contained a restriction on use as follows:

“The property, units and limited common areas as described herein are restricted and intended to be utilized solely for residential purposes, and no rental or lease shall be permitted for less than a 30 day term.”³²

The association adopted an amendment to its Bylaws imposing a

²⁹ *Id.* at 919-920.

³⁰ Board of Managers of Village View Condominium vs. Forman, 78 AD.3d 627 (New York 2010).

³¹ Shorewood West Condominium Association vs. Sadri, 140 Wn.2d 47, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000).

³² *Id.* at 50.

rental restriction, with no amendment of the Declaration. The association sued an owner, Sadri, to prohibit her from leasing her unit. In that case, the association asserted that only general limitations on use are required to be in the Declaration, not specific use restrictions (*i.e.*, only residential *versus* non-residential). The association asserted that it was general practice for courts around the country to only require reference to general limitations on use, not specific, in the Declaration. Upon review, this court disagreed:

*“Therefore, one should read “use” in RCW 64.32.090(7) to mean all uses and not just general categories of use such as residential use or commercial use. The provisions require that all restrictions on use should be in the declaration’s statement of purpose.”*³³

Recognizing rental restrictions as a restriction on use, this court confirmed such change had to be implemented through an amendment of the Declaration. The rental restriction was void.³⁴

This interpretation of the word “use” under the Horizontal Property Regime Act should be the same under the WCA. The same logic is applicable and such interpretation fulfills the primary goal to protect consumers. Importantly, in the 13 years since the

³³ *Id.* at 56. The referenced statute in the quote is the requirement under the old Act regarding the requirement to define uses in the Declaration: RCW 64.32.090(7): “A statement of the purposes for which the building and each of the apartments are intended and restricted as to use.”

³⁴ *Id.* at 57.

court's decision, the legislature has not amended the language of the Act to restrict "use" to just residential *versus* non-residential.

There is no anomaly created by the Decision's compliance with existing case law — there is no reason the interpretation of "use" should be different under the WCA.

3. No issue with Indiscriminant Application.

The Court of Appeals was very specific in limiting its opinion:

*[W]e express no opinion as to whether or to what extent other types of uses [other than leasing] are subject to the 90% requirement."*³⁵

Accordingly, there will not be a "parade of horrors" of different unit owners asserting that everything means a "use".